S271869

| α | | |
|----------|--|--|
| | | |
| | | |
| N. | | |
| | | |

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CHEVRON U.S.A., INC., et al.

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

COUNTY OF MONTEREY, et al.

Defendants:

PROTECT MONTEREY COUNTY and DR. LAURA SOLORIO

Intervenors and Appellants.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H045791
Appeal from a Judgment Entered in Favor of Plaintiffs
Monterey County Superior Court
Case No. 16-CV-3978 and consolidated cases
Honorable Thomas W. Wills, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Catherine Engberg (SBN 220376)
*Kevin P. Bundy (SBN 231686)
Aaron M. Stanton (SBN 312530
Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger LLP
396 Hayes Street

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does Public Resources Code section 3106, which articulates general principles governing state oversight of oil and gas operations and interpretation of oil and gas leases, impliedly preempt provisions of Monterey County's initiative "Measure Z" that prohibit land uses in support of oil and gas wastewater injection and the drilling of new wells?

GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

The voters of Monterey County adopted "Measure Z" in November 2016. Measure Z is an initiative land use measure intended to protect the County's water and quality of life from damage caused by oil and gas development. As relevant here, Measure Z amended the Monterey County General Plan and

other County land use documents by adding two policies that (1) prohibited land uses in support of oil and gas wastewater injection and phased out existing injection uses over 5-15 years, and (2) prohibited land uses in support of drilling new oil and gas wells, but did not affect existing wells. Both policies applied in all unincorporated areas of the County.

The Opinion concludes that Public Resources Code section 3106 conflicts with and preempts these policies. The Opinion relied on language added to the statute in 1961 that authorizes the state oil and gas supervisor to permit a range of "methods and practices" the supervisor may deem "suitable" for increasing hydrocarbon production. (Opinion at pp. 9-10.) The court construed Measure Z's land use policies as prohibiting specific "methods and practices" that section 3106 not only "encourages," but also gives the state oil and gas supervisor express authority to "permit." (Opinion at pp. 2, 9, 18-19.)

Review of the Court of Appeal's decision is warranted and should be granted for two reasons.

First, review is necessary to settle an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The Opinion's radical new interpretation of the Legislature's 1961 amendments to section 3106 calls into question whether and to what extent local governments may continue to prohibit or otherwise regulate any land uses related to oil and gas activities. Local governments and the state have shared parallel authority over oil and gas

8

¹ All further undesignated statutory references are to the Public Resources Code.

development for decades. State statutes regulating oil and gas—including section 3106—developed alongside and in harmony with a century of case law affirming local police power to prohibit drilling operations. The Legislature has never expressly preempted or acted to limit local power in this area; on the contrary, the Public Resources Code expressly acknowledges and preserves city and county authority. (See, e.g., §§ 3012, 3690.)

The basic understanding that has guided cities, counties, the state, and industry for decades was established by a 1976 opinion of the California Attorney General addressing the preemptive effect of the state's oil and gas regulatory regime, including section 3106. (59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen 461 (1976).) Based on this understanding, it has long been settled that cities and counties have the power to decide in the first instance whether oil and gas land uses are prohibited or permitted in all or part of their jurisdictions, while the state regulates technical aspects of oil and gas exploration and production in areas where such activities are allowed.

The Opinion's novel reading of section 3106 runs directly counter to this settled understanding, creating uncertainty and unwarranted litigation risk for local governments throughout the state. Measure Z's provisions are consistent with numerous examples of local ordinances the Attorney General found *not* preempted by section 3106 or any other state law. Moreover, although the Opinion asserts that it leaves local zoning and permitting authority intact (see, e.g., Opinion at pp. 2, 19, fn. 16), the court's sweeping rationale calls this assertion into doubt.

Indeed, the Opinion's interpretation of section 3106 as "encouraging" drilling and as expressly assigning permitting authority to the state oil and gas supervisor could be wielded against virtually any local regulation that prohibits, restricts, or otherwise regulates new drilling or other operations in all or part of a local jurisdiction. The League of California Cities and California Association of Counties—representing local governments with a broad range of approaches to oil and gas regulation—warned the Court of Appeal about this risk in an amicus curiae brief below. Review and reversal of the Opinion are necessary to restore the settled understanding of shared state and local regulatory authority over oil and gas.

Second, review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) This Court has formulated clear and comprehensive tests to identify whether a local enactment "conflicts" with general law where, as here, the Legislature has not expressly preempted local authority. (See, e.g., Sherwin-Williams Co. v. City of Los Angeles (1993) 4 Cal.4th 893, 897-98.) As relevant here, implied preemption may arise either (1) where the local enactment is "contradictory" and "inimical" to state law, or (2) where the Legislature has manifested its intent to occupy the "area" or "field" of regulation to the exclusion of local power. (Id. at pp. 897-98, 904; see also, e.g., T-Mobile West LLC v. City and County of San Francisco (2019) 6 Cal.5th 1107, 1121-22 ("T-Mobile"); City of Riverside v. Inland Empire Patients Health & Wellness Center, Inc. (2013) 56

Cal.4th 729, 743 ("Riverside"); Big Creek Lumber Co v. County of Santa Cruz (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1139, 1157-58 ("Big Creek").)

This Court's test for "contradictory and inimical" preemption considers whether a local enactment requires what state law prohibits or prohibits what state law demands; if a regulated entity reasonably may comply with both state and local law, including by refraining from activity local law prohibits, there is no conflict. (See, e.g., Riverside, supra, 56 Cal.4th at pp. 754-55; Big Creek, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1161.) Here, section 3106 does not require regulated entities—oil and gas operators—to carry out any particular "method or practice." To the contrary, the statute expressly states that oil and gas leases do not create any legal duty to conduct specific operations. (§ 3106, subd. (b).) Accordingly, an operator could comply with both Measure Z and section 3106 by refraining from drilling new wells or injecting wastewater.

The Opinion sidesteps this Court's focus on regulated entities entirely. Instead, the Opinion creates an entirely new test, finding Measure Z preempted because it purportedly "forbids the State from permitting certain methods and practices." (Opinion at p. 19 (italics added).) But nothing in section 3106 requires the state oil and gas supervisor to permit any specific method or practice of extraction; rather, as the Opinion itself appears to recognize, section 3106 merely authorizes state approval. (See Opinion at pp. 2, 9, 18-19.) Under this Court's precedent, therefore, Measure Z is not "contradictory and inimical" to section 3106 because it neither forbids any

activity the statute compels nor requires any activity the statute prohibits.

Indeed, the Opinion's main rationale for finding Measure Z preempted—that section 3106 assigns authority to permit "methods and practices" to the state—sounds squarely in *field* preemption, not "contradictory and inimical" preemption.

However, the express reservation of local authority in state statutes (e.g., sections 3012 and 3690) *precludes* any finding that the Legislature has occupied the field to the exclusion of local authority here. (See *Big Creek*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1157.) And although the Opinion expressly declines to address field preemption (Opinion at p. 7, fn. 8), the Opinion's assertion that it does not affect local zoning or permitting (*id.* at pp. 2, 19, fn. 16), however dubious, similarly forecloses a conclusion that the Legislature has occupied the field. Accordingly, neither this Court's test for "contradictory and inimical" nor its test for field preemption can be satisfied here.

The Opinion nonetheless finds a fatal conflict between Measure Z and section 3106. Its quotation from the single case cited in support of its holding (see Opinion at pp. 19-20, quoting *Great Western Shows v. County of Los Angeles* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 853 ("*Great Western*")) suggests that the Court of Appeal adopted an "obstacle preemption" theory grounded in federal statutes and cases this Court has unfailingly distinguished and never expressly endorsed. (*T-Mobile*, *supra*, 6 Cal.5th at p. 1123; *Riverside*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at pp. 759-61; *Great Western*, at pp. 868-69.) Because the Opinion is published, Superior Courts must

now puzzle out whether to follow the clear rules this Court has laid down or to follow the Opinion's radically expanded view of what constitutes a "conflict" between state and local law. Under this Court's precedents, local enactments like Measure Z are not preempted. But under the Opinion, the oil industry will surely assert they are—and will doubtlessly subject local governments to constant threats of costly litigation on this basis. Review is therefore necessary to secure uniformity of decision as to which tests for preemption govern analysis of California statutes and local enactments.

The Court's decision to grant or deny review here will have immense practical consequences. At this moment, several local governments have recently adopted or are considering local ordinances that would prohibit new drilling and other operations in all or part of their jurisdictions. For example:

•In September 2020, the Ventura County Board of Supervisors adopted a general plan policy that "new discretionary oil wells" be located at least 2,500 or 1,500 feet respectively from schools and residential dwellings.² Additional new policies prohibited trucking of oil and water and flaring of produced gas from "new discretionary oil wells."³

13

² Ventura County General Plan, p. 6-12 (Policy COS-7.2) (Sept. 2020), available at

https://docs.vcrma.org/images/pdf/planning/plans/Final 2040 General Plan docs/VCGPU 06 COS Element 2020 09 15 web.pdf

³ Id. at p. 6-13 (Policies COS-7.7 and COS-7.8).

•On September 15, 2021, the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors unanimously adopted a motion directing preparation of amendments to the County Code that "[p]rohibit all new oil and gas extraction wells in all zones" and "[d]esignate all existing oil and gas extraction activities . . . as legal nonconforming uses in all zones."⁴

•On October 25, 2021, Culver City adopted an ordinance prohibiting "new or expanded oil and gas activity such as drilling of new wells, redrilling or deepening of existing wells or the erection or installation of any derrick, structure, facilities or equipment related to oil and gas production" in all zones within the city and requiring termination of existing non-conforming uses.⁵

Each of these local enactments is consistent with the settled understanding that cities and counties may prohibit new drilling and other oil and gas operations in all or part of their territory. Yet numerous legal challenges are already pending in Ventura County Superior Court claiming that section 3106 and other provisions of state law preempt Ventura County's general

⁴ Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors, Statement of Proceedings (Sept. 15, 2021), Agenda Item 22, pp. 29-30, available at

http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/sop/1112973_091521.pdf.

⁵ City of Culver City, Ordinance No. 2021-016 (Oct. 25, 2021) (amending Culver City Code § 17.16.010), available at https://www.culvercity.org/files/content/public/city-hall/get-involved/inglewood-oil-field/21-10-25 ord-2021-016-approving-zca-p2021-0036-zca-to-terminate-nonconforming-oil-and-gas-use-by-nov24-2026.pdf.

plan policies and a related oil and gas permitting ordinance.⁶ In Culver City, the oil industry has cited this Opinion in support of preemption claims and explicitly threatened "lengthy and extraordinarily expensive litigation."⁷

The Opinion is thus already giving the oil industry a brand new argument that a few words added to section 3106 sixty years ago tie the hands of local government. Cities and counties adopting or implementing oil and gas regulations similar to those that local governments have implemented for decades face new uncertainty and risk arising from the Opinion's misreading of section 3106 and the relevant statutory context and its distortion of this Court's long-standing tests for analyzing preemption claims. Review should be granted and the Court of Appeal's judgment should be reversed.

_

⁶ See, e.g., Aera Energy v. County of Ventura (No. 20-546180); California Resources Corporation v. County of Ventura (No. 20-546189); Western States Petroleum Association v. County of Ventura (No. 20-546193); Lloyd Properties v County of Ventura (No. 20-546196); Western States Petroleum Association v. County of Ventura (No. 20-547988); Carbon California v. County of Ventura (No. 20-548181); National Association of Royalty Owners v. County of Ventura (No. 21-550558).

⁷ City of Culver City, City Council hearing video at approx. 1:18:56 (Oct 25, 2021) (Heather Pearce for Sentinel Peak Resources), available at http://culver-city.granicus.com/player/clip/2237?view_id=1&meta_id=200240 &redirect=true; City of Culver City, City Council hearing video at approx. 44:55-46:30 (October 18, 2021) (Nikki Carlsen, Alston & Bird, for Sentinel Peak Resources), available at http://culver-city.granicus.com/player/clip/2228?view_id=1&redirect=true.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Voters of Monterey County Adopt Measure Z.

Monterey County's voters adopted Measure Z by a wide margin at the November 2016 general election. (AR[3]399.)8 Measure Z was enacted to protect public health, safety, and the environment from damage caused by oil and gas drilling and production in the County. (AR[1]121.) The County's strong agricultural industry relies heavily on clean groundwater. (AR[1]122-23.) Its tourism industry depends on the County's scenic vistas and clean air. (AR[1]125.) Oil and gas operations threaten these values by releasing hazardous air pollutants, degrading scenery, and harming wildlife. (AR[1]124-26.) Surface spills and hazardous releases from oil and gas operations put water supplies at risk. (AR[1]123-24.) Oil and gas operations in the County also contribute to climate change; crude oil from the County's San Ardo field is among the most carbon-intensive in the world. (AR[1]126-27.)

Measure Z amended the County's General Plan by adding three new policies identifying "Prohibited Land Uses" that applied "within the County's unincorporated area." (AR[1]127-29.) Land Use Policy LU-1.21 prohibited the "development, construction, installation, or use of any facility, appurtenance, or

⁸ Citations to documents in the appellate record are formatted as follows. Citations to the Administrative Record are in the format "AR[volume number]page." Citations to the Appellants' Appendix are in the format "AA[volume number]page." Citations to the Reporter's Transcript are in the format "RT[volume number]page:line."

above-ground equipment . . . in support of hydraulic fracturing and other types of well stimulation. (AR[1]127-28.) Land Use Policy LU-1.22 prohibited the "development, construction, installation, or use of any facility, appurtenance, or above-ground equipment . . . in support of oil and gas wastewater injection or oil and gas wastewater impoundment" for storage or disposal purposes, but also allowed existing land uses of this nature to continue during an amortization period of five to fifteen years. (AR[1]128-29.) Land Use Policy LU-1.23 prohibited the "drilling of new oil and gas wells," but likewise "[did] not affect" existing oil and gas wells "drilled prior to [Measure Z's effective date] and which have not been abandoned." (AR[1]129.) The measure made substantively identical changes to other County land use plans. (See AR[1]129-36.)

Measure Z also directed the County to refrain from applying these policies if they would interfere with vested or constitutional rights. (AR[1]137.) Section 6(B) mandated that the measure's provisions "shall not apply" if they would "violate the constitution or laws of the United States or the State of California." (Ibid. (italics added).) And Section 6(C) directed the County to grant exemptions, at a property owner's request, if necessary to avoid an uncompensated taking of private property. (Ibid.)

II. The Oil Industry Challenges Measure Z.

On December 14, 2016, Chevron U.S.A., Inc., et al. and Aera Energy LLC filed petitions for writ of mandate and complaints alleging, among other things, that Measure Z was preempted by state and federal law and caused a facial, unconstitutional taking of private property. (AA[1]28-54, 55-82.) On the same day, the Superior Court approved stipulations staying enforcement and implementation of most of Measure Z. (AA[1]92-96, 97-101.) Four additional groups of oil companies and mineral rights holders filed similar challenges. (See AA[3]623-48 (California Resources Corporation); AA[4]870-944 (National Association of Royalty Owners-California Inc., et al.); AA[5]972-997 (Eagle Petroleum LLC); AA[5]998-1028 (Trio Petroleum LLC et al.).) The Superior Court granted Intervenors, the initiative's proponents, leave to intervene in defense of the initiative. (AA[5]1128-30.)

The Superior Court divided the case into phases. Phase 1 addressed threshold legal issues raised in Plaintiffs' writ petitions, including their facial preemption and takings challenges. (RT[2]303:14-17; AA[7]1567.) The court also consolidated the six cases "for purposes of the Phase 1 issues." (AA[7]1565.)

III. The Superior Court Finds Measure Z Preempted in Part.

After a four-day trial (see generally RT volumes 5-8), the Superior Court granted some of Plaintiffs' claims and denied others. (AA[31]7545-93.) The court denied Plaintiffs' preemption challenge to Measure Z's policy LU-1.21, which prohibited land uses in support of well stimulation, for lack of standing because

18

_

⁹ The six groups of oil industry petitioners and plaintiffs are hereinafter referred to collectively as "Plaintiffs."

no Plaintiff claimed to have plans to use well stimulation. (AA[31]7565-68.) In contrast, the court found policies LU-1.22 and LU-1.23 preempted, holding that they intruded on exclusive state and federal authority and conflicted with what the court interpreted as state and federal policies prioritizing oil production over local protections for health and the environment. (See AA[31]7569-79.) The court found that policy LU-1.21 could be severed from the other two policies. (AA[31]7579-81.)

The Superior Court also rejected all but one of the Plaintiffs' facial takings claims. (AA[31]7587-90.) The court concluded that Measure Z's provision prohibiting new wells caused a facial taking by eliminating the economic value of undeveloped mineral rights held by Plaintiff California Resources Corporation ("CRC"). (AA[31]7587.) The court further held that Measure Z's exemption process provided an inadequate administrative remedy for takings and violated due process. (AA[31]7581-85.) The court either rejected or declined to reach Plaintiffs' other claims. (AA[31]7554-61, 7590-91.)

On March 1, 2018, the court filed its final judgment, issued a writ of mandate, and enjoined the County from implementing Measure Z's wastewater and new wells policies. (AA[32]7685-87, 7737-38.) Intervenors filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 26, 2018. (AA[32]7748.)

19

¹⁰ The County and most of the Plaintiffs also filed notices of appeal, all of which were subsequently dismissed. (See Opinion at p. 6, fn. 6.)

IV. The Court of Appeal Concludes Section 3106 of the Public Resources Code Preempts Portions of Measure Z.

On October 12, 2021, the Court of Appeal issued its published Opinion affirming the Superior Court's judgment and finding policies LU-1.22 and LU-1.23 preempted. The Opinion characterized drilling of new wells and wastewater injection as "operational aspects of oil drilling operations . . . committed by section 3106 to the State's discretion" and concluded that "local regulation of these aspects would conflict with section 3106." (Opinion at p. 2.)

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