S271869

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CHEVRON U.S.A., INC., ET AL.

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

COUNTY OF MONTEREY, ET AL.

Defendants,

PROTECT MONTEREY COUNTY and DR. LAURA SOLORIO

Intervenors and Appellants.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H045791

Monterey County Superior Court Case No. 16-CV-3978 (and consolidated cases), The Hon. Thomas Wills

JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THEODORE J. BOUTROUS, JR., Bar No. 132099
WILLIAM E. THOMSON, Bar No. 187912
DIONE GARLICK, Bar No. 293012
GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER, LLP
333 South Grand Avenue, 54th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90071
Tel: (213) 229-7000;

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

Section 3106 also codifies a mandatory policy respecting the subsurface techniques of wastewater injection. Section 3106 decrees: "To further the elimination of waste by increasing the recovery of underground hydrocarbons, it is hereby declared as a policy of this state" to allow an operator "to do what a prudent operator using reasonable diligence would do . . . in producing and removing hydrocarbons," including "the injection of air, gas, water, or other fluids into the productive strata, the application

of pressure heat or other means for the reduction of viscosity of the hydrocarbons." (§ 3106, subd. (b), emphasis added.)

By contrast, Measure Z would flatly ban throughout Monterey County what section 3106 declares is a policy of the state to permit (where otherwise appropriate). Specifically, Measure Z would ban two "methods and practices" that increase the recovery of oil and gas: the drilling of new wells and wastewater injection.

The Court of Appeal correctly concluded that Measure Z conflicts with section 3106 because it would "ban activities that section 3106 not only promotes and encourages, but also explicitly places the authority to permit in the hands of the State." (Opn. at p. 16.) Measure Z conflicts with section 3106 regarding whether the State or Monterey County controls oil and gas "methods and practices," so the "the local ordinance must yield to the supreme state law." (Opn. at p. 18.)

There is nothing "unsettled" about the facial conflict between the plain language of section 3106 and Measure Z. Much less does it evince a conflict among the courts of appeal. Rather, Measure Z is simply preempted under article XI, section 7 of the California Constitution. (*Id.* at p. 14.)

B. The Opinion Is Consistent with Existing Law

Intervenors assert that the Opinion conflicts with
(1) caselaw regarding localities' police power, (2) two Public

Resources Code sections, and (3) a 1976 Attorney General Opinion. (Pet. at pp. 25–32.) The Court of Appeal carefully considered and correctly rejected each of Intervenors' claims. Accordingly, Intervenors do not identify any unsettled important questions of law or split of opinion among the courts of appeal.

The Opinion Is Consistent with Local Police Power and Zoning Authority

Intervenors argue that the Opinion's decision on the preemption of Measure Z undermines a series of local police power cases, but this argument relies on a misstatement of these cases' holdings. There is no conflict between these cases and the Opinion because none of the cases Intervenors cite concludes that localities may prohibit oil and gas operations under a relevant preemption analysis. In fact, only one of the cases considers preemption at all. As the Court of Appeal explained, a series of cases Intervenors relied upon, including Pacific Palisades Assoc. v. City of Huntington Beach (1925) 196 Cal. 211, Beverly Oil Co. v. City of Los Angeles (1953) 40 Cal.2d 552, and Hermosa Beach Stop Oil Coalition v. City of Hermosa Beach (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 534, never "even considered whether an otherwise valid local regulation was preempted by state law." (Opn. at pp. 13–15.) Because these cases do not consider preemption, they do not stand for the proposition that the local police power trumps the preemptive effect of a conflicting state statute. (Id. at p. 15,

quoting *People v. Alvarez* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1161, 1176 ["[I]t is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered."].)

Second, none of Intervenors' cases addresses section 3106. As discussed in the Opinion, *Pacific Palisades* predated the enactment of the Public Resources Code, and Beverly Oil predated the 1961 addition of the critical preemptive language that now appears in section 3106, subdivision (b). (Opn. at pp. 14–15.) While *Hermosa Beach* post-dated the addition of the current language to section 3106, subdivision (b), the court in that case did not consider whether the local regulation was preempted, as noted above. (*Ibid.*) And in the only case to consider a preemption argument, Higgins v. City of Santa Monica (1964) 62 Cal.2d 24, the preemption argument was limited to specific state laws concerning tidelands over which the State, in that case, had expressly granted the local entity full authority. The Supreme Court found that the state tidelands laws had vested discretion in the City to determine where oil drilling should take place on the tidelands. (Opn. at pp. 14–15.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal considered and rejected this argument because a locality's power to regulate does not resolve the unrelated issue of preemption. As the Court explained, "The mere fact that *some* local regulation of oil and gas drilling is within a local entity's police power does not resolve the question

of whether a particular local regulation is *preempted* by a particular state law. If a local regulation conflicts with a state law, the local regulation exceeds the local entity's power." (Opn. at p. 14, original italics.) The Opinion was careful to differentiate between a local government's authority to enact certain restrictions in the first place through a police power, such as the authority to restrict oil drilling to certain zoning districts, and the constitutional prohibition on local regulations that conflict with state law, which applies regardless of whether the locality had the authority to pass the law in the first place. (Opn. at 2, 19 and fn. 16)

The Opinion Properly Rejected Intervenors' Reliance on Sections 3012 and 3690

Intervenors cite two statutory provisions, sections 3012 and 3690, to argue that the Legislature intended to permit local regulation of the activities at issue. Intervenors' contentions fail.

First, section 3012 states: "The provisions of this division apply to any land or well situated within the boundaries of an incorporated city in which the drilling of oil wells is now or may hereafter be prohibited, until all wells therein have been abandoned as provided in this chapter." (§ 3012.) The Court of

Appeal concluded that while section 3012 allows a city³ to ban oil operations entirely, it nonetheless mandates that the State continue to exercise authority over existing wells, and thus does not support Intervenors' argument that the State has ceded its authority over oil drilling "methods and practices." (Opn. at p. 11.) Further, the Opinion notes that the preemptive language in section 3106, subdivision (b), was adopted after the adoption of section 3012. (*Ibid.*)

Next, section 3690 provides: "This chapter [(chapter 3.5)] shall not be deemed a preemption by the state of any existing right of cities and counties to enact and enforce laws and regulations regulating the conduct and location of oil production activities, including, but not limited to, zoning, fire prevention, public safety, nuisance, appearance, noise, fencing, hours of operation, abandonment, and inspection." (§ 3690, emphasis added.) By its terms, section 3690 is limited to chapter 3.5, which concerns "unit operations" and consists of sections 3630 through 3690. The Court of Appeal properly concluded that section 3690 is inapplicable here because section 3690 is limited to chapter 3.5, and section 3106 is not contained within chapter 3.5. (Opn. at 12.)

³ Section 3012 applies by its terms only to "an incorporated city," which the County of Monterey is not.

3. The Opinion Is Consistent with the 1976 Attorney General Opinion

Contradicting their claim that the Court of Appeal "radically reinterpreted" section 3106, Intervenors acknowledge that no prior reported decision has considered the preemptive effect of section 3106. (Pet. at p. 29.) Intervenors speculate the lack of prior decisions "likely reflects" the influence of a 1976 Attorney General Opinion (the "AG Opinion"), which they contend "clearly demonstrates" Measure Z is a valid exercise of the County's power. (*Ibid.*) To the contrary, while the Court of Appeal found "no need to rely" on the AG Opinion, it explained why the AG Opinion is consistent with its ruling. (Opn. at p. 16, fn. 14.)

As stated by the Court of Appeal, the AG Opinion opined that "certain phases of oil and gas activities are of statewide rather than local concern and that any local regulation in conflict with those phases would therefore be ineffective; in our view, the state has so fully occupied these certain phases that there is no room left for local regulation." (Ibid., quoting AG Opinion, 59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. at p. 477 (emphasis added).) The AG Opinion also found that conflicting local regulations over these oil and gas activities would be particularly problematic where oil and gas deposits extended under the boundary of multiple localities, and that state preemption applied to any activities the State oil and

gas supervisor had approved. (*Id.*, citing AG Opinion, 59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. at pp. 477 and 478.)

Here, drilling wells and wastewater injection are precisely the type of oil and gas activities that are subject to State supervision and approval, and therefore shielded from local regulation according to the AG Opinion. (See also Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. at pp. 461–462 ["where the state regulation approves of or specifies plans of operation, methods, materials, procedures, or equipment to be used by the well operator or where activities are to be carried out under the direction of the Supervisor, there is no room for local regulation."].)

Further, Intervenors concede that the AG Opinion found that the State had preempted local regulation of "certain phases" of oil and gas development referred to as "subsurface" phases. (Pet. at pp. 29–30.) The Court of Appeal declined to address whether Measure Z regulates "subsurface" activities because it "is unnecessary to our analysis." (Opn. at p. 16, fn. 14.) The superior court, however, properly rejected Intervenors' attempt to characterize Measure Z as a "land use" regulation that affected only surface, as opposed to subsurface, activities. (31:AA.7570.)

In the superior court, Intervenors argued Measure Z does not limit subsurface wastewater injection and impoundment, but simply prohibits surface equipment and activities in support of the same. (*Ibid.*) The superior court found this argument "is

clearly a pretextual attempt to do indirectly what it cannot do directly," and that there is no "meaningful distinction between wastewater injection and impoundment on the one hand, and surface equipment and activities in support of wastewater injection and impoundment on the other." (*Ibid.*) Intervenors also conceded at trial that Measure Z does not merely regulate surface land uses, and that Intervenors' attempted distinction between surface and subsurface activities is "artificial" since subsurface activity "is accompanied inherently by surface activities" and surface land uses. (*Ibid.*)

C. Intervenors Overstate Any Impact of the Opinion on Local Governments

Intervenors' premise that local governments will be subject to "profound" uncertainty and litigation risk from the Opinion (Pet. at 32) is belied by the fact that Monterey County, the defendant in this litigation, elected to abandon its appeal and is not a part of these proceedings. The County apparently did not consider the impacts that Intervenors allege will befall cities and counties significant enough to pursue an appeal of the superior court's order.

Intervenors assert the Opinion disturbs the "balance of power" between state and local government by upending local regulation of oil and gas "land uses," *i.e.*, the local ability to determine "whether and where" wells may be drilled. (Pet. at pp.

32–33.) The Court of Appeal rejected this argument because Measure Z does not identify any locations where oil drilling may or may not occur. (Opn. at p. 15.) Rather, it would bar any new wells and wastewater injection anywhere in Monterey County, even if these new facilities would be located on the same land as an existing oil and gas operation. (*Ibid.*) Thus, Measure Z does "not regulate 'where and whether' oil drilling would occur . . . but rather what and how any oil drilling operations could proceed." (*Id.* at pp. 15–16, original italics.) Under Measure Z, "[o]perations could proceed only if they involved no new wells and no wastewater injection, which are operational methods and practices." (*Id.* at p. 16.)

Local governments have always been required to avoid passing laws that conflict with state law, including state oil and gas regulations, even if those local laws are done under the auspice of land use regulation. (E.g., Cal. Const., art. XI, § 7.) The AG Opinion cited by Intervenors, which was authored in 1976, states expressly that local governments may not regulate oil and gas production activities regulated by the State. (AG Opinion, 59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. at pp. 461–462.) Intervenors' feigned concern that the Opinion will preclude localities from exercising zoning authority is refuted by the text of the Opinion, which states specifically that the ruling does not "cast any doubt on the validity of local regulations requiring permits for oil

drilling operations or restricting oil drilling operations to particular zoning districts." (Opn. at p. 19, fn. 16.) No such regulations are addressed by section 3106, Measure Z, or the Opinion. (*Ibid.*)

II. Review Is Unnecessary to Ensure Uniformity of Decision Because the Opinion Faithfully Applies this Court's Preemption Precedent

Intervenors argue uniformity of decision is threatened because the Opinion is inconsistent with other caselaw finding preemption based on a "contradictory and inimical" conflict between state and local law. (Pet. at 34.) But the Court of Appeal explained in detail the consistency of the Opinion with established preemption law, and thoroughly analyzed the Supreme Court cases that Intervenors cite here. (Opn. at pp. 16–20.)

The Court of Appeal concluded that Measure Z would "ban activities that section 3106 not only promotes and encourages, but also explicitly places the authority to permit in the hands of the State." (Opn. at p. 16, emphasis added.) Measure Z "conflicts" with and is preempted by section 3106, as it is not possible for the statute's mandate that the State permit, where appropriate, these oil and gas activities if the local ordinance bars them altogether. (*Ibid.*; see also *id.* at p. 18.) Measure Z conflicts with the state statute's express encouragement of these specific

activities. As the Court of Appeal explained, "[T]he two laws conflict with respect to who controls the use of these methods and practices," and therefore "the local ordinance must yield to the supreme state law." (*Id.* at p. 18.) The Opinion relies on existing preemption jurisprudence to make the straightforward finding that Measure Z, which prohibits specific oil production techniques, is contrary and inimical to state law that encourages and mandates that the State permit those techniques.

Intervenors first try to distinguish the Opinion on the grounds that a state statute's "encouragement" of an activity is supposedly insufficient to demonstrate preemptive intent.

(Petition at pp. 34–35, citing *T-Mobile West LLC v. City and County of San Francisco* (2019) 6 Cal.5th 1107; *Big Creek Lumber Co. v. County of Santa Cruz* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1139; and *City of Riverside v. Inland Empire Patients Health & Wellness Center, Inc.* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 729.) But Intervenors misread the cases they cite. As the Court of Appeal found, none of the preemption cases that Intervenors claim are inconsistent with the Opinion addresses a circumstance, as here, where the local law directly prohibits what a state law not only encourages, but mandates the State have the authority to permit.

In *T-Mobile*, this Court considered whether a local ordinance requiring telephone service companies to obtain permits to install and maintain lines and equipment in rights-of-

way, including conformance with aesthetic guidelines, was preempted by a state law allowing construction of lines and equipment along public roads if the construction does not "disturb or give inconvenience" to "the public's use of the road." (*T-Mobile, supra*, 6 Cal.5th at pp. 1114, 1117, 1118.) There, the state statute made no mention of the subject matter addressed by the local ordinance (aesthetics), so there was no conflict. (*Id.* at p. 1121; Opn. at 18.) Here, by contrast, section 3106 specifically addresses drilling of wells and wastewater injection, encourages both, and mandates that the State permit these "methods and practices" where appropriate. (Opn. at p. 18.)

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